# Case No. 23-ICA-118 IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGIN 12:56PM EDT Transaction ID 70268741

MELISSA K. BOND

Petitioner and Plaintiff Below,

V

# UNITED PHYSICIANS CARE, INC. DBA SALEM FAMILY HEALTHCARE

Respondent and Defendant Below.

Civil Action No. 22-C-176 In the Circuit Court of Harrison County, West Virginia (The Honorable Christopher McCarthy, Judge)

# BRIEF OF PETITIONER MELISSA K. BOND

Erika Klie Kolenich, Esq. (9880) Klie Law Offices, P.L.L.C. 21 E. Main Street, Suite 160 Buckhannon, West Virginia 26201 (304) 472-5007 ehklie@klielawoffices.com

#

II.	ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
IV.	SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT6
V.	STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 8
VI.	ARGUMENT8
	A. Standard of Review
	B. The lower Court erred when it improperly prompted and allowed consideration of
	facts outside the Complaint
	C. The lower Court erred in failing to properly interpret the Complaint as it applied
	to the COVID-19 Jobs Protection Act
	1. The Act was not intended to leave employees with disabilities without redress
	for discrimination and failures to accommodate
	2. If the Act does apply to the present case, the Complaint should have fallen
	under the actual malice exception to the Act because Petitioner pled facts to
	support malice
	D. Petitioner pled facts to support her having a disability worthy of an
	accommodation, though Respondent denied it in the hearing and the lower Court
	failed to address the matter in its Order
VII.	CONCLUSION
	TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
G t GEG	
CASES	
D1 = 1- = + + +	Charleston Anna Mod Ctr. 201 W Vo. 460, 409 S.E. 24 41 (1007)
	Charleston Area Med. Ctr., 201 W. Va. 469, 498 S.E.2d 41 (1997)
	40 (1980)
	v. Monroe County Comn, 750 S. E. 2d 263, 232 W. Va. 47 (2013)
	Gibson, 213 W. Va. 167, 578 S.E.2d 361 (2003)
	v. Kane Transfer Company, 160 W. Va. 530, 236 S. E. 2d 207 (1977)
Cunning	ham v. Hill, 226 W. Va. 180, 698 S.E.2d 944 (2010)
Elliott v.	Schoolcraft, 576 S.E. 2nd 796, 213 W. Va. 69 (2002)
Friend v.	Astrazeneca Pharms. LP, 2023 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 83749, 2023 WL 3390820 (Md., May
	1, 2023)
Handley	v. Union Carbide Corp., 804 F.2d 265 (4th Cir. 1986) 9
John W.	Lodge Distribution Company v. Texaco, Inc., 245 S.E.2d 157, 161 W. Va. 603
(	1978)
Jorgenso	n v. Conduent Transp. Sols., Inc., 2023 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 18463, 2023 WL 1472022
	Md., Feb. 2, 2023)
	M.C. Dean, Inc., 2023 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 21561, 2, 2023 WL 1822383 (Va. E.D., Feb.
7.	. 2023)
	lis v. Elkins Industries, Inc., 246 S.E.2d 904, 161 W. Va. 695 (1978)
<i>McCorm</i>	ick v. Allstate Ins. Co., 202 W. Va. 535, 505 S.E.2d 454 (1998)

McCormick v. Walmart Stores, 600 S.E. 2d 5/6, 215 W. Va. 6/9 (2004) 9
Painter v. Ballard, 237 W. Va. 502, 788 S.E.2d 30 (2016)
Poffenbarger v. Kendall, 588 F. Supp. 3d 770, 2022 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 34133, 2022 WL 594810
(S.D. Oh., W. Div., February 28, 2022)
Primecare Med. of WV, Inc. v. Foster, 2023 W. Va. App. LEXIS 72, 885 S.E.2d 171 (W.Va.
I.C.A. 2023)
Riffle v. C.J. Hughes Constr. Co., 226 W. Va. 581, 703 S.E.2d 552 (2010)
Schneider v. Cnty. of Fairfax, 2023 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 35469, 2023 WL 2333305 (Va. E.D.,
Alexandria Div., March 2, 2023)
Skaggs v. Elk Run Coal Co., 198 W. Va. 51, 479 S.E.2d 561 (1996)
Speaks v. Health Sys. Mgmt., 2022 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 146840, 2022 WL 3448649 (U.S. W. Dist.
Of N.C. Statesville Div. Aug. 17, 2022)
State ex rel McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick Inc., 461 S.E.2d 516, 194 W. Va. 770
(1995)
Stricklen v. Kittle, 287 S.E.2d 148, 168 W. Va. 147 (1981)
Woods v. Jefferds Corp., 241 W. Va. 312, 824 S.E.2d 539, (2019)
STATUTES AND REGULATIONS
U.S. Const. Art. VI, Cl. 2
42 U.S.C. § 12101(b) (1990)
W.Va. Code §5-11-2
W.Va. Code § 55-19-1 (et. seq.)
RULES
W.Va. Rule of App. Proc. 20.
W. Va. Rule of App. Proc. 20
W.Va. Rule of Civ. Proc. 12(b)(6)

#### ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Assignment of Error 1: The Court erred by considering facts outside of the Complaint. During the hearing on the Motion to Dismiss, the Court questioned Defendant on its process in determining medical exemptions from getting the COVID-19 vaccination. In doing so, the Court obtained facts to consider that were not pled in the Complaint. At the Motion to Dismiss stage the Court can only look to the facts pled in the complaint in a light most favorable to the Plaintiff.

Assignment of Error 2: The Court erred by interpreting the COVID-19 Jobs Protection Act as prohibiting even disability discrimination and failure to accommodate claims arising from a termination from employment because a disabled individual was not able to get the COVID-19 vaccination due to her disability. In doing so, the Court ignored the stated purpose of the act which was merely to "provide assurances to businesses that reopening will not expose them to liability for a person's exposure to Covid-19."

**Assignment of Error 3:** The Court erred by not finding that the present case falls within an exception to the COVID-19 Jobs Protection Act. Specifically, the Court did not consider whether Plaintiff pled that Defendant acted intentionally with malice which would have excluded Defendant from and COVID-19 Jobs Protection Act.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal is based upon a Circuit Court improperly granting a Motion to Dismiss. In her Complaint filed September 19, 2022, Petitioner pled claims for Disability Discrimination and Failure to Accommodate. (Appx. 003-5 & 077). The Complaint contained the following:

Petitioner was hired by Respondent on June 27, 2016, and had never had problems performing her job duties in a satisfactory manner. (Appx. 001-2). She never committed a

dischargeable offense. (Appx. 002). In 2021, Respondent implemented a policy, the COVID-19 Vaccination Program Policy, which required employees to provide proof of their COVID-19 vaccination or have an exemption granted by March 15, 2022. *Id.* Petitioner provided Respondent with the required medical exemption form as filled out by her doctor because she had reactions to vaccines in the past. *Id.* Petitioner received a letter from Respondent denying her medical exemption request. *Id.* Petitioner submitted an appeal request form also signed by her doctor. *Id.* She was notified that her appeal was denied by Respondent. *Id.* Within a month of being notified of this denial and five days before the deadline for Petitioner to either get an exemption or get the vaccine, Respondent posted a job listing for what appeared to be Petitioner's position. *Id.* 

The day after the March 15, 2022, deadline, Petitioner received counseling on her failure to comply with the vaccination policy. (Appx. 003). Her "Final Written Warning" came on March 23, 2022, and she was terminated on March 29, 2022. *Id.* Said termination was based on Petitioner's disability. *Id.* Petitioner's disability was the medical condition she had relating to vaccinations which caused her to suffer from adverse reactions which have led to hospitalization at times and impacted her ability to work and perform other life activities. *Id.* Respondent knew of this disability because Petitioner provided Respondent with medical documentation. *Id.* Instead of terminating Petitioner, Respondent should have granted the accommodations that Petitioner requested and provided medical documentation for. (Appx. 004). Said accommodations include but are not limited to being given a medical exemption from the COVID-19 Vaccination Program Policy. *Id.* 

The acts and omissions described in the Complaint caused Petitioner to "suffer injuries, damages and losses, including but not limited to: back pay, front pay, emotional distress, anxiety,

fear, embarrassment, humiliation, financial hardship, and attorney fees." (Appx. 005). "All of the acts of [Respondent] and its agents, servants, and employees, as alleged in each count of this Complaint were willful, wanton, and malicious and/or reckless and/or in reckless disregard for the civil rights of [Petitioner]." *Id.* Punitive damages were also appropriate. (Appx. 006).

Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss and Supporting Memorandum of Law on October 31, 2022, arguing that Respondent was immune from suit under the COVID-19 Jobs Protection Act. (Appx. 009 & 077). On November 11, 2022, Petitioner filed a memorandum in opposition to this motion and argued that the Covid-19 Jobs Protection Act was not meant to protect against the present matter. (Appx. 023-27 & 077). Defendant filed a reply on December 12, 2023, and argued the there was no explicit carve-out for the present matter and that Plaintiff did not specifically plead any exception to the COVID-19 Jobs Protection Act. (Appx. 029-35).

Parties were heard, through counsel, on the issues during a December 19, 2023, hearing. Respondent was heard first as it made the Motion to Dismiss. During its argument, Respondent went outside the bounds of the Complaint. For example, Respondent stated,

As per [Respondent's] policy, [Petitioner's] request was denied...

[Petitioner] was separated from employment. And they view it as a voluntary separation, rather than a termination...

the medical panel that we have follows the contraindication for the actual vaccines, and there's three of them available. and if you don't meet those them you don't get a medical exemption...

It's in our policy actually, and it's on the form that she completed. Exemptions to the COVID-19 vaccine employee mandate are, number one, severe allergic reaction, anaphylaxis, after a previous dose or to a component of the COVID-19 vaccine. So, in other words, if you take the first dose and you have a bad anaphylactic reaction we will give you an exemption. Number 2, immediate allergic reaction of any severity to a previous dose or known diagnosed allergy to a component of the vaccine, either polyethylene glycol or the Pfizer, Moderna vaccines, or polysorbate for the J&J vaccine. An immediate allergic reaction is defined as any hypersensitivity related signs or symptoms such as urticaria,

angioedema, respiratory distress or anaphylaxis that occur within four hours following administration. And then the third is myocarditis or pericarditis after the first does of a mRNA COVID vaccine, which is a the Pfizer or Moderna. So, those are the only three, and those are by the vaccine manufacturer, they are listed as contraindications...

it was a fear that because she had an adverse reaction to a different vaccine, I believe it was that she would have a bad reaction to this, yes. And she had a doctors note from her primary care physician that was submitted with it. They reviewed that, our panel of experts, who are – they're from various disciplines, there's pharmacology, and there's one from, I can tell you actually all of their specialties...

it's 'form that the employee completes. They attach a letter from their physician if they have one, or the physician can complete the form. That's submitted to the employee health department for the system, and a decision is made based on the initial criteria of do you meet the contraindications. If you don't it's sent back. The employee then has an opportunity to appeal, provide additional information if they care to. It's all done on paper, through paper submissions. I believe in some cases if there was some ambiguity in what the physician submitted to our panel they would call the physician and ask to clarify, but there's no interview or, you know, hearing, or anything like that other than the paperwork.

(Appx. 059, 065-066, & 072).

The Court below encouraged this type of factual argument which included facts not pled in the Complaint because it asked multiple questions throughout the argument regarding the specifics of Respondent's policy and how it was effectuated in this case. *Id.* Some of the facts revealed as a result of this questioning were facts that Petitioner was learning in real time as no discovery had commenced. For example, the Court asked the following questions about the process Respondent used to decide on whether to accommodate Plaintiff and the details inquired about were not in the Complaint.

Well, did that letter from the primary care physician, that's one of the things I was kind of thinking about a little bit when I was reading the filings, did he rely on a specific part of the makeup of the vaccine or was there anything that specifically that he relied upon in preparing that letter?

What's the process like? What process did she go through? Did she appear before anybody as part of that, or was it just strictly on paper, or how does that work?

(Appx. 066-67 & 071-72).

Respondent also argued that Petitioner's claims were based on an application of a COVID related policy, so the COVID-19 Jobs Protection Act must apply. (Appx. 061). Respondent felt that the claims could not fall under any exception. *Id.* It argued that Petitioner did not plead actual malice and instead pled "garden-variety discrimination." *Id.* Respondent argued that the only specific carve-out was for deliberate intent claims and that this carve-out shows that the legislature could have created a carve-out for Human Rights Act Claims such as are present here. (Appx. 062). Respondent took leaps to argue that the legislature must have intentionally chosen not to make a carve-out for Human Rights Act Claims because it had intentionally chosen to make a carve-out for deliberate intent claims. (Appx. 063). Respondent additionally argued, only when first quizzed by the lower Court, that Petitioner does not have a disability because her allergy was not a "disease that is a contraindication of that vaccine." (Appx. 064). Respondent characterized Petitioner's allergy as merely "an underlying condition that makes [her] fearful." (Appx. 065).

Petitioner argued that the issue here is not a COVID-19 related policy but a policy on granting accommodations to disabled employees which has nothing to do with minimizing the spread of COVID-19. (Appx. 070). Petitioner argued that the COVID-19 Jobs Protection Act was not promulgated to provide protections for employers not accommodating the disabled. *Id.* Instead, the statute lays out that its purpose is to protect against the liability for those who get sick from COVID. *Id.* Petitioner argued that Respondent's intent and Petitioner's disability could only be found through discovery because, as was pled in the Complaint, Petitioner's own doctor provided documentation that Petitioner was at serious medical risk of a reaction if she got the

required COVID vaccine, yet Respondent provided her no outlet other than get the vaccine or be fired. (Appx. 071).

After the hearing, though counsel, parties submitted proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law for the lower Court's review echoing their respective arguments. (Appx. 037-49). The Court below then entered Respondent's proposed findings and conclusions which focused only on two words in the COVID-19 Jobs Protection Act to find that Respondent was immune from Petitioner's suit because of two words that the Court focused on from the Act. (Appx. 050-56). The Court did not consider the rest of the Act. *Id.* Petitioner timely appealed and now perfects her appeal.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner appeals after her Disability Discrimination and Failure to Accommodate claims were erroneously dismissed below. Petitioner had sufficiently pled all elements of her claims. However, Respondent attacked her claims on the basis that the COVID-19 Jobs Protection Act provided certain immunities to hospitals. Specifically, Respondent argued that it was immune from Petitioner's employment claims because they arose when Respondent failed to provide Petitioner an exemption from getting the COVID-19 vaccine even though she had a history of allergic reactions to vaccines. The lower Court agreed with Respondent.

In ordering that the claims be dismissed, the lower Court erred in three ways. First, the lower Court erroneously considered facts outside the Complaint. Motions to Dismiss are to be rarely granted and only granted when the plaintiff has not pled facts to even imply that the elements of her claim could be met. Here, Petitioner was the plaintiff below and pled the necessary facts. However, the lower Court allowed and encouraged discussion of facts outside

the Complaint. The facts were also unrelated to the elements of the claims in the complaint.

Thus, the lower Court erred in considering unnecessary facts outside the Complaint.

Second, the lower Court failed to properly interpret the COVID-19 Jobs Protection Act's intent. The lower Court concluded that the COVID-19 Jobs Protection Act was to bar all claims. This is not true. The Act did not contemplate barring suits where the harm was not a COVID-19 infection which is evident based on the language used in the Act. The harm here is discrimination, failure to accommodate, and, ultimately, termination. The legislature therefore did not intend for disabled employees being discriminated against, such as Petitioner, not to have any avenue of redress.

Third, even if the lower Court was correct in finding that the COVID-19 Jobs Protection Act applied to claims such as in this case, the Circuit Court failed in finding that the case did not fall within the malice exception. The Act does not bar claims that arise from actual malice. Here, Petitioner pled facts that suggested Respondent acted with actual malice. Respondent knew that it was asking Petitioner to risk her health or lose her job. Even with this knowledge, Respondent refused to provide an accommodation and terminated Petitioner instead. Petitioner even pled that Respondent acted with "willful, wanton, and malicious and/or reckless and/or in reckless disregard for the civil rights of [Petitioner]." These pleadings should have been enough to allow this case to survive the Motion to Dismiss, so parties could better determine the issue of malice through discovery.

Regardless of what Respondent may argue, these errors have harmed Petitioner. Petitioner anticipates that Respondent will argue that this appeal is moot because the case could not have proceeded without Petitioner having a known disability. Respondent argued below that Petitioner does not have a disability. However, this is not true. Petitioner pled facts to support her

having a disability. She pled that she had a history of allergic reactions to vaccines which have resulted in hospitalization. She pled that this medical condition impacted some life activities, such as work. She pled that Respondent was aware of this as she had presented Respondent with doctor's notes. These pleadings were enough to establish that she had a disability for the purposes of surviving the Motion to Dismiss. Because Petitioner pled facts to support that she has a disability, the Circuit Court's errors were not harmless.

#### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

This case is appropriate for oral argument under Rule of Appellate Procedure 20 because it involves an issue of public importance. Further, Petitioner is seeking a reversal of the Circuit Court decision and respectfully suggests that the Court would benefit from hearing counsel's oral argument.

#### ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

"In reviewing a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss, this Court applies a *de novo* standard of review." *Painter v. Ballard*, 237 W. Va. 502, 506, 788 S.E.2d 30, 34 (2016) (internal citations omitted). The *de novo* standard does not give any deference to the ruling below. *Blake v. Charleston Area Med. Ctr.*, 201 W. Va. 469, 475, 498 S.E.2d 41, 47 (1997). The present appeal is based upon the Circuit Court granting Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, so this Court should use the *de novo* standard.

# B. The lower Court erred when it improperly prompted and allowed consideration of facts outside the Complaint.

Generally, the Motion to Dismiss below was based on Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure permits a motion to dismiss to be granted if the *complaint* fails to state a claim upon which relief can be

granted. The purpose of a motion to dismiss, under this Rule, is to test the formal sufficiency of the *complaint*. *Mandolidis v. Elkins Industries, Inc.*, 246 S.E.2d 904, 161 W. Va. 695 (1978) modified on other grounds; *Handley v. Union Carbide Corp.*, 804 F.2d 265 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1986) (emphasis added).

The plaintiff's burden in resisting a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim is a relatively light one. McCormick v. Walmart Stores, 600 S.E. 2d 576, 215 W. Va. 679 (2004), on remand 2009 WL 8680794. To resist a motion to dismiss, the pleader is only required to set forth sufficient information to outline the elements of a valid legal claim. See John W. Lodge Distribution Company v. Texaco, Inc., 245 S.E.2d 157, 161 W. Va. 603 (1978). For the purposes of the motion to dismiss, the complaint is construed in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff, and its allegations are to be taken as true. See John W. Lodge Distribution Company, 161 W. Va. 603 (1978). The Circuit Court, in appraising the sufficiency of a complaint, on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, should not dismiss the complaint unless it appears beyond doubt that the Plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief. Syl. Pt. 3, Chapman v. Kane Transfer Company, 160 W. Va. 530, 236 S. E. 2d 207 (1977) quoting Conley v. Gibson 355 U.S. 41, 78 S. Ct. 99, 2 L. Ed. 80 (1957). A trial Court should not dismiss a complaint merely because it doubts that the plaintiff will prevail; whether the Plaintiff can prevail is a matter properly determined on the basis of proof and not merely on the pleading. Bowden v. Monroe County Comn, 750 S. E. 2d 263, 232 W. Va. 47 (2013).

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