IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET NO. 23-ICA-118

ICA EFiled: Aug 11 2023 03:57PM EDT Transaction ID 70620099

MELISSA K. BOND, PLAINTIFF BELOW, PETITIONER

V.

UNITED PHYSICIANS CARE, INC. D/B/A SALEM FAMILY HEALTHCARE, DEFENDANT BELOW, RESPONDENT.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT UNITED PHYSICIANS CARE, INC. D/B/A SALEM FAMILY HEALTHCARE

Counsel for Respondent Brian M. Peterson (W.Va. Bar No. 7770) Jacqueline L. Sikora (W.Va. Bar No. 9486) West Virginia United Health System, Inc. 1238 Suncrest Towne Centre Drive Morgantown, West Virginia 26505 Telephone: (304) 598-4070 Facsimile: (304) 598-9888 brian.peterson@wvumedicine.org jacqueline.sikora1@wvumedicine.org

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner Melissa Bond was employed as a Medical Assistant by Respondent Salem Family Healthcare. (Appx. p. 1, ¶3) In 2021, Salem Family Healthcare implemented a "COVID-19 Vaccination Program" requiring its employees either to show proof of vaccination against COVID-19, or to apply for and receive a medical or religious exemption, by a March 15, 2022 deadline. (Appx. p. 2, ¶6) Ms. Bond chose not to receive the vaccine, opting instead to "fight for [a] medical exemption" from the vaccine requirement. (Appx. p. 2, ¶11) Her medical exemption request was considered and denied, as was her internal appeal. (Appx. p. at 2, ¶8-10) The day after the deadline, Ms. Bond received a counseling for failing to comply with the policy, (Appx. p. 3, ¶13) followed by a final written warning a week later "for noncompliance" with the vaccination program. (Appx. p. 3, ¶14) On March 29, 2022, her employment was terminated for noncompliance. (Appx. p. 3, ¶15)

Ms. Bond filed a civil action in the Circuit Court of Harrison County asserting two claims under the West Virginia Human Rights Act: (1) disability discrimination, and (2) failure to accommodate, both based on her asserted disability of "adverse reactions to vaccinations" (Appx. p. 3 at ¶19) *see* W.Va. Code §§ 5-11-1, *et seq.;* (*see generally*, Appx. p. at 1-7).¹ The "Damages" provisions of the complaint allege Ms. Bond suffered "injuries, damages and losses," and requested monetary damages for "back pay, front pay, emotional distress, anxiety, fear, embarrassment, humiliation, financial hardship" as well as "attorney fees" and "punitive damages"

¹ For purposes of this appeal, the Court need not decide whether Ms. Bond's medical condition meets the definition of "disability" under the West Virginia Human Rights Act. Ms. Bond alleged in her Complaint that she is disabled. (Appx. p.3 at ¶19) This allegation can be assumed true for purposes of this appeal.

for the "willful, wanton, and malicious and/or reckless and/or reckless disregard for the civil rights of" Ms. Bond. (Appx. p. 5 at ¶33-34)

Salem Family Healthcare moved to dismiss the complaint for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted under Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. (Appx. pp. 9-15) The Circuit Court correctly dismissed Ms. Bond's complaint based on a straightforward application of the statutory immunity provided by the COVID-19 Jobs Protection Act, W.Va. Code §§ 55-19-1 *et seq*. In doing so, the Circuit Court relied exclusively on the allegations asserted in the Complaint and did not rely on matters outside the pleading. (Appx. p. 50-55) This appeal followed.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Respondent asserts that oral argument is unnecessary because the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record on appeal, and the decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument. As explained below, this case involves a straightforward application of an immunity statute to claims clearly within its ambit.

ARGUMENT

Salem Family Healthcare is immune from suit for Ms. Bond's claims under the COVID-19 Jobs Protection Act based on the plain language of the statute and its stated purpose. As set forth below, the Circuit Court did not misapply the Act, did not base its decision on matters outside the pleadings, and did not erroneously conclude that the claims as pleaded in the Complaint do not allege intentional conduct involving actual malice.

A. Standard of Review is De Novo

The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has held that "[a]ppellate review of a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss a complaint is de novo." Syl. Pt. 1, *Barber v. Camden Clark Mem'l Hosp. Corp.*, 240 W. Va. 663, 815 S.E.2d 474 (2018) (citing Syl. Pt. 2, *State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc.*, 194 W. Va. 770, 461 S.E.2d 516 (1995)). Further, it has held that "[t]he trial court, in appraising the sufficiency of a complaint on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, should not dismiss the complaint unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of [her] claim which would entitle [her] to relief." Syl. Pt. 3, *Chapman v. Kane Transfer Co., Inc.*, 160 W. Va. 530, 236 S.E.2d 207 (1977) (citing *Conley v. Gibson*, 355 U.S. 41, 78 S.Ct. 99, 2 L.Ed.2d 80 (1957)).

In addition, "[t]he ultimate determination of whether qualified or statutory immunity bars a civil action is one of law for the court to determine. Therefore, unless there is a bona fide dispute as to the foundational or historical facts that underlie the immunity determination, the ultimate questions of statutory or qualified immunity are ripe for summary disposition." *Albert v. City of Wheeling*, 238 W. Va. 129, 792 S.E.2d 628, 629 (2016) (citing Syl. Pt. 1, *Hutchison v. City of Huntington*, 198 W.Va. 139, 479 S.E.2d 649 (1996)).

B. Respondent is immune from suit under the COVID-19 Jobs Protection Act.

Effective "retroactively from January 1, 2020," and applying to "any cause of action accruing on or after that date," one of the COVID-19 Job Protection Act's primary purposes is to "[e]liminate the liability of the citizens of West Virginia and all persons including individuals, health care providers, health care facilities, institutions of higher education, businesses, manufacturers, and all persons whomsoever, and **to preclude all suits and claims against any**

persons for loss, damages, personal injuries, or death arising from COVID-19." W.Va. Code

§§ 55-19-2(b)(1), W.Va. Code § 55-19-9 (emphasis added).

To carry out its stated purpose, in section four of the Act, the Legislature enacted the

following broad immunity provision:

Notwithstanding any law to the contrary, except as provided by this article, there is no claim against any person, essential business, business, entity, health care facility, health care provider, first responder, or volunteer for loss, damage, physical injury, or death arising from COVID-19, from COVID-19 care, or from impacted care.

W.Va. Code § 55-19-4 (2021) (emphasis added). In section three of the Act, the phrase "arising

from COVID-19" is defined, in relevant part, as follows:

For the purposes of this article:

(1) "Arising from COVID-19" means any act from which loss, damage, physical injury, or death is caused by a natural, direct, and uninterrupted consequence of the actual, alleged, or possible exposure to, or contraction of, COVID-19, including services, treatment, or other actions in response to COVID-19, and without which such loss, damage, physical injury, or death would not have occurred, including, but not limited to:

(A) Implementing policies and procedures designed to prevent or minimize the spread of COVID-19

W.Va. Code § 55-19-3(1) (2021). The Circuit Court correctly found that Ms. Bond's claims

against Salem Family Healthcare, all of which arise from application of its COVID-19 Vaccination

Program, fall squarely within the Act's scope of immunity.

Ms. Bond does not dispute that the Respondent, as a corporation engaged in health

care, is both a "person" as defined by W.Va. Code § 55-19-3(11), and a "health care provider" as

defined by W.Va. Code § 55-19-3(9) and thus within the scope of the Act. Furthermore, all of Ms.

Bond's claims are ones "arising from COVID-19" as defined by W.Va. Code § 55-19-3(1) because her claims arise as "a natural, direct, and uninterrupted consequence of" Salem Family Healthcare's implementation of "policies and procedures designed to prevent or minimize the spread of COVID-19," specifically its "COVID-19 Vaccination Program." Ms. Bond claims that Salem Family Healthcare violated state law by refusing to exempt her from application of its COVID-19 Vaccination Program, the obvious purpose of which is to protect the health and safety of patients, healthcare personnel, the families of patients and healthcare personnel, and the community as a whole from COVID-19 infection through vaccination. The purpose of Petitioner's suit is to seek damages for a loss of her employment as a direct consequence of Salem Family Healthcare's enforcement of its Covid-19 Vaccination Program.

Ms. Bond's claims are "claim[s]... for loss, [or] damage" under section 4 of the Act because her complaint seeks "injuries, damages and losses, including but not limited to: back pay, front pay, emotional distress, anxiety, fear, embarrassment, humiliation, financial hardship and attorney fees," (Appx. p. 5, ¶ 33) all of which are claims for losses or damages precluded by W.Va. Code § 55-19-4. Because the COVID-19 Act expressly provides that there is "no claim" for such losses or damages arising from a covered person's implementation of COVID-19 policies or procedures, the Circuit Court correctly determined that dismissal of her civil action in its entirety was appropriate.

In her second assignment of error, Ms. Bond argues that the COVID-19 Jobs Protection Act "was not intended to leave employees with disabilities without redress for discrimination and failures to accommodate." (Petitioner's Br. at 12) On the contrary, such claims are barred if, as here, they "aris[e] from COVID-19." W.Va. Code § 55-19-4. The plain language of the Act applies broadly to any "... claim against any person... for loss, damage, physical injury, or death arising from COVID-19." W.Va. Code § 55-19-4. If a discrimination claim arises out of a covered entity's "[i]mplement[ation] [of] policies and procedures designed to prevent or minimize the spread of COVID-19," then those discrimination claims are barred, whether asserted under common law or statute. During the COVID-19 pandemic, businesses of all kinds attempted to reopen safely by implementing a myriad of policies requiring vaccination, masking, social distancing, limited visitation, capacity maximums and other unprecedented requirements intended to minimize the spread of COVID-19. The Act intended to immunize those businesses from liability for implementing such policies.² To the extent a customer, patient, employee, or other person suffered a loss or harm related to such policies, their claims "aris[e] from COVID-19," *see* W.Va. Code § 55-19-3(1)(a), and are barred. W.Va. Code § 55-19-4.

The Act's broad immunity applies "[n]othwithstanding any law to the contrary, except as provided by this article." W.Va. Code § 55-19-4. While the article contains an exception for certain statutory worker's compensation claims, *see* W.Va. Code § 55-19-6, it contains no exceptions for West Virginia Human Rights Act claims. Had the Legislature intended to exempt Human Rights Act claims arising from implementation of COVID-19 policies, it would have provided for such an exception.

The Petitioner also argues that "the West Virginia Covid-19 Jobs Protection Act cannot eliminate the rights provided to the disabled in the ADA," referring to the federal Americans with Disabilities Act. (Petitioner's Br. at 15) However, the Court need not reach the issue of immunity against ADA claims because the Complaint does not assert any claims under

² Among the stated purposes of the Act is to "Provide assurances to businesses that reopening will not expose them to liability for a person's exposure to COVID-19." W.Va. Code \S 55-19-2(b)(2).

the ADA or any other federal law. (See Appx. pp. 1-7) The complaint asserts only state law claims under the West Virginia Human Rights Act. (*Id.*)

C. The Circuit Court did not rely on matters outside the pleading in rendering its decision.

The Petitioner's first assignment of error argues that the Circuit Court erred when it "improperly prompted and allowed consideration of facts outside the Complaint." (Petitioner's Br. at p.8, §B) Specifically, the Petitioner alleges that "the lower Court … spent extensive time discussing alleged facts not stated in the Complaint during the hearing on the Motion to Dismiss" and it "prompted and allowed discussion of Respondent's policy on giving accommodations for the COVID vaccination policy and how it was effectuated in this case." (Petitioner's Br. at p. 11). However, the record before the Court does not support the conclusion that the Circuit Court actually *relied* upon any materials outside the pleading in rendering its decision, and this Court should not assume it did.

In the Order Granting Motion to Dismiss (Appx. pp. 50-55), the Circuit Court limits its factual findings to the relevant facts contained in the Complaint, all of which were assumed true for purposes of considering a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6). (Appx. pp. 50-51) A circuit court speaks through its orders. *See State v. White*, 188 W.Va. 534, 536 n. 2, 425 S.E.2d 210, 212 n. 2 (1992) ("[H]aving held that a court speaks through its orders, we are left to decide this case within the parameters of the circuit court's order.") (citations omitted). The Circuit Court's order makes no mention of reliance on any facts, arguments or other matters raised during oral argument that were outside of the facts asserted in the pleading. The Petitioner essentially invites this Court to assume that, because the Circuit Court asked certain questions about background matters not material to the motion at a non-evidentiary hearing, that the Circuit Court must have relied on

matters outside the pleadings in rendering its decision. However, the difference between *reviewing* extraneous materials relating to a motion to dismiss and *relying* on them has been commented upon as follows:

Further, as long as a court does not rely on extraneous documents, even though the documents may have been read, a court is not required to convert a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to a Rule 56 motion. A trial court's order may reference to material outside of the pleadings solely to provide background information, without having to convert the motion to summary judgment, so long as the order does not demonstrate a legal reliance on the information.

Louis J. Palmer, Jr., Robin J. Davis, *Litigation Handbook on West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure* § 12(b)(6)[8][g], p. 418 (5th ed. 2017) (footnotes omitted). Because the Circuit Court did not rely on, and excluded from its order, any matters from the oral argument outside the Complaint in rendering its decision, it did not err in not converting the motion to one for summary judgment. *See* W.Va. R. Civ. P., Rule 12(b)(7) ("If, on a motion asserting the defense numbered (6) to dismiss for failure of the pleading to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, matters outside the pleading are presented to *and not excluded by* the court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment....") (emphasis added).

D. Petitioner's claims do not fall within the "actual malice" exception to the COVID-19 Jobs Protection Act.

Finally, Petitioner alleges in her third assignment of error that the Circuit Court erred by not finding that her claims of discrimination and failure to accommodate fall within the COVID-19 Jobs Protection Act's "actual malice" exception. The provision Petitioner cites, W.Va. Code § 55-19-7, states:

Excluding the provisions of §55-19-5 and §55-19-6 of this code, the limitations on liability provided in this article shall not apply to any person, or employee or agent thereof, who engaged in **intentional conduct with actual malice**.

W.Va. Code § 55-19-7 (2021) (emphasis added). However, the Petitioner has not pleaded any facts that support a claim that Salem Family Healthcare engaged in "intentional" conduct with "actual malice." The doctrine of "actual malice" has been applied by the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals in only two types of claims:

- claims for defamation, see e.g., Crump v. Beckley Newspapers, Inc., 173 W. Va. 699, 707, 320 S.E.2d 70, 78 (1983) ("The primary manner in which a qualified privilege to publish defamatory statements may be defeated is by a showing of actual malice."); and
- claims for violation of the West Virginia Unfair Trade Practices Act; *See Hayseeds, Inc. v. State Farm Fire & Cas.*, 177 W.Va. 323, 330-331, 352 S.E.2d 73, 80-81 (1986) ("Accordingly, punitive damages for failure to settle a property dispute shall not be awarded against an insurance company unless the policyholder can establish a high threshold of actual malice in the settlement process.)

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